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F I L E 0  
Clerk 

bisttict Court 

ForThr Northern Mariano Islands 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS 

DOE I, et al. On Behalf of Themselves 
and All Others Similarly Situated, 

) 

1 

1 DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ 
) FIRST AMENDED 

Case No. CV-01-003 1 

Plaintiffs, 1 ORDER RE: MOTION TO 

V. 1 COMPLAINT 

‘I’HE GAP, INC., et al., 

Defendants. ) 

THIS MATTER came before the Court on August 10,2001, for hearing on 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“FAC”). G. Patrick 

Civille, Albert H. Meyerhoff and Michael Rubin appeared for plaintiffs. Gregory P. Joseph, 

Daralyn Durie, Randolph J. Rice, and Angela Padilla appeared on behalf of the retailer 

defendants. Richard Pierce appeared on behalf of the manufacturer defendants. 

Upon consideration of the written and oral argument of counsel, the Court GRANTS 

in part and DENIES in part defendants’ motion to dismiss as set forth herein. 
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STANDARD FOR MOTION TO DISMISS 

Defendants move to dismiss plaintiffs’ claims under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for 

failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. A Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is proper 

only where there is either a “lack of a cognizable legal theory” or “the absence of sufficient 

facts alleged under a cognizable legal theory.” Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dept., 901 F.2d 

696,699 (gth Cir. 1988). In considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, a court 

must accept as true all material allegations in the complaint, as well as reasonable inferences 

to be drawn fiom them. However, a c o ~ i r t  need not accept as true unreasonable inferences, 

unwarranted deductions of fact, or conclusory legal allegations cast in the form of factual 

allegations. See e.g. Pillsburv, Madison & Sutro v. Lerner, 31 F.3d 924,928 (9th Cir. 1994) 

(internal quotation omitted). 

RICO CLAIMS 

COUNT 2 - VIOLATION OF AND CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 5 1962(a) 
COUNT 1 - VIOLATION OF AND CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 0 1962(~) 

Defendants move to dismiss the RICO claims on the following grounds: (1) plaintiffs 

have not sufficiently alleged the existence of FUCO enterprises, (2) plaintiffs have not alleged 

injuries that confer standing under RICO; and (3) plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged the 

retailer defendants’ participation in the conduct of the affairs of an enterprise.’ 

Existence of KLCO enterprises 

Plaintiffs’ RICO claims under 18 U.S.C. 3 1964(c) are based on violations of FUCO 

§1962(a) and (c). To allege violations of §1962(a) and (c), plaintiffs must sufficiently allege 

1 

The parties are familiar with the facts, allegations, and legal arguments in this case. The 
court states only those which are necessary to explain its decision. 

2 
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the existence of an enterprise. See United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1331 (5* Cir. 

1983). An “‘enterprise’ includes any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or other 

legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal 

entity.” 18 U.S.C. 0 196 l(4). Defendants contend that plaintiffs have not adequately alleged 

the existence of a RICO enterprise. 

Plaintiffs allege two types of RICO enterprises: (1) many separate enterprises 

consisting of a single retailer defendant associated in fact with a single manufacturer 

defendant, and (2) one enterprise consisting of all retailer defendants associated in fact with 

all manufacturer defendants. Plaintiffs allege that the various association-in-fact enterprises 

were formed for the purpose of committing numerous acts of racketeering activity. 

Association-in-fact enterprises consisting of individual retailer defendants and 
individual manufacturer defendants have been adequately alleged. 

In United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 582-583 and n.4, 101 S.Ct. 2524,2528 and 

n.4 (198 l), the Supreme Court stated that an association-in-fact enterprise is a group of 

persons associated for the common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct and that such 

associations may exist for entirely legitimate purposes. The Court stated the existence of an 

association-in-fact enterprise is proved by evidence of (1) an ongoing formal or informal 

organization, (2) evidence that the various associates h c t i o n  as a continuing unit, and (3) 

evidence showing that the enterprise exists separately from the pattern of racketeering 

activities. See id. 

In Chang v. Chen, 80 F.3d 1293, 1299 (Sth Cir. 1996), the Ninth Circuit elaborated on 

the three enterprise elements, quoting extensively from the Third Circuit’s opinion in United 

3 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

A 0  72 
(Rev.8182) 

States v. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214 (3rd Cir. 1983). In Riccobene. a criminal prosecution, the 

court stated “[t] he ‘ongoing organization’ requirement relates to the superstructure or 

framework of the group. To satisfy this first element, the government must show that some 

sort of structure exists within the group for the making of decisions, whether it be hierarchical 

or consensual. There must be some mechanism for controlling and directing the affairs of the 

group on an ongoing, rather than an ad hoc, basis.” Id. at 222. As to the second requirement, 

that the associates function as a continuing unit, the Riccobene court stated “[tlhis does not 

mean that individuals cannot leave the group or that new members cannot join at a later time. 

It does require, however, that each person perform a role in the group consistent with the 

organizational structure . . . and which furthers the activities of the organization.” Id. at 223.* 

As to the third Riccobene requirement, that the enterprise exist separately fiom the 

pattern of racketeering activities, the court stated “[a]s we understand this last requirement, it 

is not necessary to show that the enterprise has some function wholly unrelated to the 

racketeering activity, but rather that it has an existence beyond that which is necessary merely 

2 

In United States v. Feldman, 853 F.2d 648,657 (9* Cir. 1988), the Ninth Circuit 
addressed these two elements as they specifically relate to an association-in-fact enterprise 
consisting, as here, mostly of corporations. The Ninth Circuit stated that a court must look 
carefiilly at the facts alleged to determine if there are sufficient interconnections among the 
associates to constitute an enterprise. See id. at 657-58, Such interconnections may be a 
parent-subsidiary relationship, similar or related business purposes, shared assets, and 
overlapping officers and personnel. See id. The court noted that where the “associates” in the 
enterprise are also all RICO defendants under a charge of conspiracy, the allegations supporting 
the conspiracy also lend support to both the existence of an ongoing organization and the 
“c;uiilIiiuI1yy’ icquiiaiicmt. Sce id. Thc couit also stated that the requirement of continuity of 
personnel is not absolute and the “determinative factor is whether the associational ties of those 
charged with a RICO violation amount to an organizational pattern or system of authority.” Id. 
at 659. 

4 
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to commit each of the acts charged as predicate racketeering offenses. The function of 

overseeing and coordinating the commission of several different predicate offenses and other 

activities on an ongoing basis is adequate to satisfy the separate existence requirement” Id. at 

223 -24. 

The Ninth Circuit has stated that “the involvement of a corporation, which has an 

existence separate fiom its participation in the racketeering activity, can satisfy the enterprise 

element’s requirement of a separate structure.” Chang, 80 F.3d at 1300. Plaintiffs have 

sufficiently alleged that these single retailer-single manufacturer corporate enterprises had an 

existence separate from the racketeering activities because “[tlhe corporate entities had a legal 

existence separate fiom their participation in the racketeering, and the very existence of a 

corporation meets the requirement for a separate structure.” Feldman, 853 F.2d at 660. 

Plaintiffs also contend that the existence of association-in-fact enterprises consisting of 

a single retailer defendant and a single manufacturer defendant is sufficiently established 

through their allegations of various contracts and agreements between single retailers and 

single manufacturers and allegations of a course of conduct that gave the individual retailer 

defendant some means of joint control and participation in the operations of individual 

garment factories. The alleged agreements and conduct includes purchase agreements, vendor 

cndes nf cnnduct, on-site quality control monitoring by retailers, vendor compliance 

monitoring, and the setting of quality standards and turn-around times. Plaintiffs maintain 

that the alleged agreements and conduct are sufficient to show a structure for the individual 

retailer-individual manufacturer enterprises, and an available mechanism for decision-making 

5 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1  

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

A 0  72 
(Rev. 8/82) 

and direction of the affairs of the enterpri~e.~ SPP Lorna Linda Univ Med Ctr , Inc. v. 

Farmers Group, Inc., Civ-S-94-0681WBS/JFM, 1995 WL 363441 (E.D. Cal. May 15, 1995) 

(contractual relationships among various entities can establish the organizational network 

establishng the RICO enterprise). The cowt agrees that the allegations are sufficient. The 

relatedness of the individual retailer’s and the individual manufacturer’s businesses, the 

allegations of collusion between individual retailers and individual manufacturers to conceal 

factory conditions thereby permitting the garments to be promoted as “sweat” free (FAC 7 

1 01), and the alleged longevity of the relationships support the existence of the alleged 

enterprises and are sufficient to allege that the individual retailers and indwidual 

manufacturers hct ioned as continuing units. 

For the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that plaintiffs have adequately alleged 

3 

Both plaintiffs and defendants rely on River City Markets, Inc. v. Fleming Foods West, 
Inc., 960 F.2d 1458, 1461-62 (9* Cir. 1992). Plaintiffs argue River City supports their position 
that commercial contractual relationships can serve as the structure for the RICO enterprise; 
defendants argue that River City stands for the proposition that where a contract shows nothing 
in its terms that would violate any federally protected rights if carried out, and there are no 
allegations that the agreement contemplated or permitted a course of conduct that would 

The court in River City found that the commercial agreements between the associates in the 
enterprise created a business relationship alun to a joint venture and, in conjunction with the 
allegations that the individual defendants conducted their RICO activities through the 
enterprise, held the complaint sufficient to allege the existence of a FUCO enterprise and 
survive a motion to dismiss. See id. at 1461. The court then examined the evidence to support 
those allegations in the context of a motion for summary judgment and found that such routine 
business contracts, without additional evidence showing the agreements were used for an 
improper purpose or permitted an unlawful course of conduct, were insufficient to establish a 
RICO enterprise for summary judgment purposes. See id. at 1462-63. The alleged contractual 
relationships in this case, along with plaintiffs’ allegations that the defendants conducted their 
18 U.S.C. $3  1581 and 1584 racketeering activities through the enterprises are sufficient tn 
allege the existence of the enterprises at this stage of the litigation. 

involvc misconduct, thc contracts arc not sufficicnt to allcgc the existence of a RICO enterprise. 

6 
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the existence of the various single retailer-single manufacturer RTCO enterprises. 

Association-in-fact enterprise consisting of all retailer defendants and all manufacturer 
dcfcndants has not bccn sufficicntly plcadcd. 

Plaintiffs have not adequately alleged the existence of an enterprise consisting of all 

retailer defendants and all manufacturer defendants. Plaintiffs allege that many retailer 

defendants contract with the same manufacturer defendants and many retailers use the same 

vendor compliance monitors and contract brokers. Plaintiffs also allege that many 

manufacturer defendants are commonly owned and all are members of the Saipan Garment 

Manufacturers Association, where they exchange information and standardize workplace 

practices. Although the allegations show common business purposes and interconnections 

through the utilization of the same contract brokers, compliance monitors, and manufacturers, 

as well as interconnections between certain of the manufacturers themselves, there are no 

allegations showing an overarching structure and a mechanism for making decisions and 

directing or controlling the affairs of all retailer defendants and manufacturer defendants as a 

group on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged an enterprise 

consisting of all retailer defendants and all manufacturer defendants. 

Injury to “property” is adequately pleaded. 

Plaintiffs have standing to sue under RICO if---and can only recover damages to the 

extent that---they have been injured in their business or property by conduct constituting a 

violation of 8 1962. See 18 U.S.C. 5 1964(~) ;~  see also Sedima v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 

4 

“Any person injured in his business or property by reason of a violation of section 1962 
of this chapter may sue therefor in any appropriate United States district court . . .” 18 U.S.C. 0 
1964(c). 

7 
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479,496, 105 S.Ct. 3275,3285 (1985). Plaintiffs must allege a concrete financial loss to their 

business or property proximately caused by defendants’ conduct. See Oscar v. Univ. Student 

Co-op. Ass ’n, 965 F.2d 783,785 (9* Cir. 1992). Defendants contend plaintiffs have not 

allaged irljuries tu k i r  businebb 01 piupaty. 

Plaintiffs allege that the following injuries resulted from defendants’ conduct, and that 

the injuries were to their “property” for RICO purposes: (1) lost wages resulting from forced 

“volunteer” hours, (2) payment of excessive amounts for employer-provided food and 

housing, and (3) payment of recruitment fees and deposits which contributed to their 

indentured status. 

1. Allegations of lost wages suffice to show an “injury to property” for RICO 
purposes. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of lost wages caused by the predicate acts of involuntary 

servitude, 18 U.S.C. 5 1584, and peonage, 18 U.S.C. 5 1581, (FAC 77 134,135), show a 

concrete financial loss suffered by plaintiffs; i.e. they show an injury to plaintiffs’ property for 

RICO  purpose^.^ Defendants rely upon and analogize to Danielsen v. Burnside-Ott Aviation 

Training Ctr., Inc., 941 F.2d 1220 (D.C. Cir. 1991), wherein the plaintiffs/employees were 

mis-classified and as a result received a lower wage rate. Danielsen is distinguishable from 

the allegations in this case because plaintiffs there were being paid the wage specified in their 

contract, were not working unpaid hours, and, in that court’s opinion, were attempting to turn 

5 

See e.g. Libertad v. Welch, 53 F.3d 428,437 n.4 (lst Cir. 1995) (lost wages could be an 
injury to property under RICO); Reynolds v. Condon, 908 F.Supp. 1494, 1519 (N.D. Iowa 
1995) (loss of income may suffice to state a RTCO injury); Rodonich v. House Wreckers Union 
Local 95 ofLaborers’Int’1 Union, 627 F.Supp. 176,180 (S.D.N.Y. 1985) (“to the extent 
plaintiffs’ purported injuries consist of lost wages, sufficient proprietary damage is alleged”). 

8 
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a wage dispute into a RICO action by tenuous allegations of mail and wire fraud See id. at 

1228-29. Here, plaintiffs allege they are being forced to work for no pay as a result of 

defendants’ alleged scheme to place and keep them in indentured status. 

2. Allegations of excessive payments for employer-provided food and lodging suffice 
to show an (‘injury to property” for RICO purposes. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of excessive payments for employer-provided food and housing 

are sufficient to show an injury to property caused by the defendants’ alleged violations of 

RICO. See Blue Cross & Blue Shield of New Jersey v. Philip Morris, Inc., 36 F.Supp. 2d 560, 

569 (E.D. N.Y. 1999) (expenditure of money as a result of defendants’ RICO activities, that 

would not have been spent or would have been spent on other things, is an injury under 

RICO). The alleged payments for food and housing are concrete financial losses and plaintiffs 

allege they are required to make these payments, which are in excess of the defendants’ actual 

costs, as part of the scheme to keep plaintiffs in an indentured status. (FAC 77 8-9, 125). 

Plaintiffs do not have to explicitly allege that the payments exceeded market value; that is 

reasonably inferred from the allegations. (FAC 77 8,15, 16, 17, 19,20,22,24). 

3. Allegations of actual payment of recruitment fees suffice to show an “injury to 
property” for RICO purposes; allegations that “deposits” may not be returned 
art. not sufficient to show an “injuiy to property” sufficient for RICO purposes. 

Plaintiffs also adequately allege payment of the recruitment fees as an injury caused by 

defendants’ RICO violations. All plaintiffs allege they paid recruitment fees. (FAC 77 15- 

39). Plaintiffs further allege that the imposition of fees by the recruiters (who actually are 

acting as defendants’ agents) are part of the scheme to place and keep them in an indentured 

9 
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servant status.6 These allegations show a concrete financial loss. (FAC TIT[ 121-122). 

Defendants cite Dumas v. Major League Baseball Props., Inc., 104 F.Supp.2d 1220,1223 

(S.D. Cal. 2000), for the proposition that there is no injury where plaintiffs voluntarily pay 

money and receive the benefit of their bargain. The court in Dumas stated, however, that had 

plaintiffs alleged that defendants’ conduct was fraudulent or dishonest and that they did not 

receive the benefit of their bargain as a result of that dishonesty, an injury under RICO may 

have been sufficiently pled. See id. Plaintiffs here have alleged they did not get the benefit of 

their bargain based on the defendants’ alleged dishonest conduct; i.e. that the “recruiters” are 

actually in the service of the defendants. (FAC 7 5-6). 

However, the deposits plaintiffs allegedly made to the recruiters to ensure completion 

of lheir conlrar;ls will1 ClekriClanls Clu iiul tiurrslilule a cuiicrete Giiaricial luss because plaintiffs 

acknowledge that the deposits will be returned to them upon completion of their contracts and 

only speculate that the deposits may be lost. (FAC 7 119(a)). There are no allegations in the 

6 

Defendants presented the affidavit of Yafeng Sun attesting that recruiting fees are 
governed by and imposed as a matter of Chinese law. Defendants contend that the Court may 
consider the affidavit because it was submitted on an issue of foreign law pursuant to FRCP 
44.1. Defendants note there is no allegation that the recruitment fees are in excess of that 
authorized by the Chinese Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation and cite to the 
MOFTEC regulations attached as an exhbit. Plaintiffs object to the affidavit as an evidentiary 
submission and arguc that cvcn if rccmitment fees were permitted under Chinese law, they have 
alleged they are excessive and unlawful under American law. The FAC appears to raise an 
issue of foreign law, but not with respect to recruitment fees. In support of the peonage and 
indentured servitude claims plaintiffs allege “Class members have been threatened by the 
Chinese government with deportation, arrest and prosecution in China if they speak unfavorably 
about their employers.” (FAC 7 119(e)). With respect to recruitment fees, plaintiffs only allege 
they are recruited by “private agencies” acting as agents of defendants. (FAC 7 121). Plaintiffs 
have alleged an injury based on their payment of recruitment fees sufficient to survive a motion 
to dismiss; however, the Rule 44.1 submissions regarding the nature of the recruitment fees 
may again be submitted in conjunction with any subsequent dispositive motion. 

10 
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FAC that plaintiffs have lnst their depnnits SPP 1,ui rim, Tnr v rim, Tnnr 895 F.Siipp. 13hS, 

1378 (D. Haw. 1995) (no RICO injury where alleged damages are contingent and not 

concrete). 

Plaintiffs lack standing to seek injunctive relief under RICO. 

Defendants argue that plaintiffs have no standing under RICO to seek injunctive relief 

and that 77 176 and 181 of the FAC must therefore be stricken. Plaintiffs have offered no 

counter argument. In Religious Tech. Ctr. v. Wollersheim, 796 F.2d 1076, 1088 (9* Cir. 

1986), the Ninth Circuit held that injunctive relief is not available to civil RTCO plaintiffs. 

Accordingly, 77 176 and 181 of the FAC are stricken. 

For the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that plaintiffs have adequately alleged 

injury to their properly based on losl wages Tor uripaid work Iiou~s, exwssive payments foi 

employer-provided food and housing, and payment of recruiting fees. However, the 

allegations of non-retum of “deposits” are too speculative. Plaintiffs may not seek injunctive 

relief under RICO. 

Plaintiffs have not alleged an “investment injury” under6 19621a) 

In order to state an “investment injury” claim based on a violation of 18 U.S.C. 0 

1962(a), plaintiffs must allege that the injury to their property resulted from defendants’ use or 

investment of RICO prvcceds. See Nugget Hydroelectric L. P. v. Pacijk Gas & EZec., 981 

F.2d 429,437 (9* Cir. 1992) (standing to sue under 9 1962(a) requires alleged injury in 

business or property by the use or investment of the racketeering in~ome) .~  Defendants 

7 

An injury under 18 U.S.C. 0 1962(a) resulting from use or investment of proceeds is 
different from an injury under 18 U.S.C. 6 1962(c) resulting from the predicate acts. See 

11 
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contend that plaintiffs have failed to allege a use or investment injury. 

In count two of the FAC plaintiffs allege that “defendants conspired to derive, and did 

derive, substantial proceeds through the above-described pattern of racketeering activity and 

conspired to use or invest, and used or invested, such proceeds in the operation of the 

association-in-fact enterprises.” (FAC 7 179). In 7 180 plaintiffs allege “[als a direct and 

proximate result of defendants’ violations of 0 1962(a) and (d) of RICO, plaintiffs and the 

members of the Class have been injured in their business or property.” 

The FAC contains no allegations, other than the aforementioned conclusory 

paragraphs, that allege or reasonably give rise to an inference that defendants used or invested 

alleged racketeering proceeds in the establishment or operation of any enterprise. Even taking 

these usehnvestment allegations as true, plaintiffs’ factual allegations of injury are not 

sufficient to show an injury resulting from such use or investment, as opposed to injuries 

caused by the predicate acts. See US. Concord, Inc. v. Harris Graphics Corp., 757 F.Supp. 

1053, 1060 (N.D. Cal. 1991) (reinvestment in the RICO enterprise itself is insufficient where 

plaintiff sustained no injury other than from the predicate acts themselves). Because plaintiffs 

have not properly alleged an investment injury, they lack standing to assert a claim for 

violation of 0 1962(a). 

Plaintiffs’ claim of a 0 1962(d) conspiracy to violate 9 1962(a) also fails because 

plaintiffs have not alleged the requisite injury resulting from the conspiracy. See Beck v. 

Prupis, 120 S.Ct. 1608, 1616 n.9 (2000) (“a plaintiff suing for a violation of 6 1962(d) based 

on an agreement to violate 5 1962(a) is required to allege injury from the ‘use or 

Nugget Hydroelectric L.P. v. PaclJic Gas & Elec., 981 F.2d 429,437 (gth Cir. 1992). 

12 
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invest[ment] ’ of illicit proceeds.”). Accordingly, plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently plead 

any claim based on RICO 0 1962(a) and count two is therefore dismissed as to all defendants. 

CNMI statutory offenses can be RICO predicate acts and violation of criminal 
peonage statute and Hobbs Act are adequately alleged as “predicate acts’’ 

supporting a “pattern of racketeering activity’’ under RICO. 

Plaintiffs must allege a “pattern of racketeering activity” in order to state a claim based 

on violation of RICO 0 1962(a) or 9 1962(c). A “‘pattern of racketeering activity’ requires at 

least two acts of racketeering.” See 18 U.S.C. 3 1961(5). Acts of racketeering include “any 

act or threat involving murder, kidnaping, gambling. arson, robbery, bribery, extortion . . . 

which is chargeable under State law and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year” 

and specific enumerated offenses indictable under Title 18 of the United States Code, 

iiicludiiig peonage and iiivoluntaiy servitude. See 18 U.S.C. 0 1961(1), S 1581, 9 1584. 

Defendants contend that plaintiffs have not adequately pleaded the predicate acts of 

racketeering. 

1. CNMI statutory offenses 

Certain acts “chargeable under State law” may be RICO predicate acts. See 18 U.S.C. 

8 1961(1)(A). Defendants, relying mostly on principles of statutory construction, argue that 

the acts specified in 0 1961 (l)(A), as codified under CNMI statutory law, do not constitute 

RICO predicate acts because the CNMI is not cliplicitly includcd in thc dcfinition of a “state” 

under RIC0.8 Defendants concede, however, that they have found no rationale as to why 

8 

“Stale means aziy Slak uTllit; Uilitt;d States, Distl-ict of Columbia, the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, any territory or possession of the United States, any political 
subdivision, or any department, agency or instrumentality thereof.” 18 U.S.C. 1961(2). 

13 
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Congress would choose to exempt CNMT statutory offenses as RICO predicate acts while 

including as predicate acts the similar statutory offenses of all other United States territories 

and possessions. RICO is applicable to the Commonwealth pursuant to 0 502(a)(2) of the 

Covenant to Establish a Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands in Political Union 

with the United States of America (“Covenant”), Act of Mar. 24, 1976, Pub. L. No.94-241’90 

Stat. 263 (1976), reprinted at 48 U.S.C. 0 1681. The definition of “state” under RICO 

includes “any territory or possession of the United States.” See 18 U.S.C. 0 1961(2). The 

Ninth Circuit has held that the CNMT i s  encnmpassed hy the term “tem’tnry”iinder variniis 

statutes. See Saipan Stevedore Co. v. Dir. Workers’ Comp. Programs, 133 F.3d 717,720 (gfh 

Cir. 1998) (CNMI is plainly a United States “territory” under the Longshore and Harbor 

Workers’ Compensation Act); Micronesian Telecomms. Corp. v. NLRB, 820 F.2d 1097, 1100 

(gth Cir. 1987) (CNMI falls within the meaning of “territory” under the National Labor 

Relations Act).’ To interpret RICO as not encompassing CNMI statutory offenses would 

seem contrary to both the provisions of the Covenant and the broad scope of RICO. See 

Sedima, 473 U.S. at 498, 105 S.Ct. at 3286 (RICO is to be construed liberally to effectuate the 

statute’s remedial purposes). Accordingly, the Court finds that CNMI statutory offenses may 

9 

Defendants also cite United States v. Bordallo, 857 F.2d 519, 523-524 (9* Cir. 
198S), in support of their argument that the CNMI is not encompassed by the term “state” under 
RICO. In Bordallo, the court overlurned a bribery conviction on the ground lhal Guam was no1 
a state for purposes of the federal bribery statute because the term “state” was lee undefined 
and the court had previously held that Guam is not included in the meaning of the term state 
absent express congressional intent. Under RICO, Congress has defined “state” and Congress’ 
intent to include the CNMI is apparent from the use of the phrase “any territory or possession” 
in the definition. 
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constitute predicate acts under RICO. 

2. Involuntary servitude and criminal peonage. 

To establish the crime of involuntary servitude under 18 U.S.C. 9 1584, a prosecutor 

must allege and prove beyond a reasonable doubt the use or threatened use of physical 

restraint, physical coercion or legal coercion to compel labor. See United States v. Kozminski, 

487 U.S. 931,952, 108 S.Ct. 2751,2765 (1988). 

To establish the crime of peonage under 18 U.S.C. 0 1581, a prosecutor must allege 

and prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim was “working for a debt which he owed 

the [master], and [I the labor was performed under such coercion as to become compulsory 

service for the discharge of the debt.” See United States v. Reynolds, 235 U.S. 133,35 S.Ct. 

86 (1914). 

An actual conviction for the crime is not a condition precedent to the filing of a civil 

lawsuit; plaintiffs need only allege two predicate acts that violated one or more of the federal 

criminal laws enumerated in 18 U.S.C. 0 1962(1). See, e.g., Schreiber Distributing v. Sew- 

Well Furniture Co, 806 F.2d 1393, 1396-1401 (9* Cir. 1986). 

As discussed infra, plaintiffs have not sufficiently pleaded a claim for involuntary 

servitude but have adequately alleged that they were held in a condition of peonage based on 

their recruitment fees and other debts through threats or use of physical or legal coercion. 

3. The Hobbs Act 

The Hobbs Act makes it a crime to interfere with commerce by use of extortion. See 

18 U.S.C. 0 195 l(a). “‘[E]xtortion’ means the obtaining of property from another, with his 

15 
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consent, induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, or under the 

color of official right,” 18 U.S.C. 1951(b)(2). To prove extortion by wrongful use of force 

or fear, it must be established that “( 1) the defendant induced someone to part with money, 

property, or other valuable right by the wrongfid use or threat of force or fear; (2) the 

defendant acted with the intent to obtain money or property that defendant knew he was not 

entitled to receive; and (3) commerce from one state to another was or would have been 

affected in some way.” United States v. Dischner, 947 F.2d 1502, 15 16 (9* Cir. 1992). 

Plaintiffs contend they have been deprived of property in the form of unduly high 

payments of money to defendants for substandard food and housing, recruitment fees, and 

medical expenses, and that they have been penalized by defendants through being forced to 

woi-k unpaid “volunteer” hours. 

Money is clearly “property” within the meaning of the Hobbs Act, and it can 

reasonably be inferred from the allegations in the complaint that the manufacturer defendants, 

or their agents, wrongfully coerced payment of fees for inadequate food and housing and 

recruiting fees, and that these fees and payments were in some respect unlawful. 

It cannot, however, be reasonably inferred from the allegations that payments for 

medical expenses were coerced. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants provide in-house medical 

cliiiics and if they choose to seek outside medical attcntion thcy must thcn pay for it. Thcrc is 

no allegation that the defendants forced the plaintiffs to use the in-house medical services and 

in that manner obtained money or property belonging to the plaintiffs. (FAC 7 127). 

As to the “volunteer” hours, plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged that the unpaid work 

16 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

A 0  72 
(Rev.8182) 

was performed under threatened force, violence, or fear. It may be reasonably inferred from 

the allegations that plaintiffs were essentially induced to part with their valuable right to 

compensation for their labor by the wrongful use or threat of force or fear, and that the 

manufacturer defendants acted with intent to deprive plaintiffs of money and to profit 

therefrom.” 

There is no aiding and abetting liability under RICO and thus the court need not 
decide whether the retailer defendants may nevertheless be liable where they 

aided and abetted predicate acts. 

The retailer defendants contend there is no aiding and abetting liability under RICO 

and therefore they may not be held liable for either aiding and abetting a substantive RICO 

violation or for aiding and abetting the predicate acts. 

In Central Bank ofDenver v. First Interstate Bank ofDenver, 5 11 U.S. 164, 114 S.Ct. 

1439 (1994), the Supreme Court held that there is no private cause of action for aiding and 

abetting a securities violation under 0 1O(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act. Since the 

Supreme Court’s Central Bank decision, nearly every court that has considered the aiding and 

abetting issue as applied to RICO has determined that there is no aiding and abetting liability 

under RICO. Based on Central Bank, the court concludes plaintiffs cannot state a claim 

10 

Defendants cite Toms v. Pizzo, 4 F.Supp.2d 178, 183 (W.D.N.Y. 1998), for the 
proposition that “volunteer” labor is not a violation of the Hobbs Act. In Toms, the plaintiff, an 
independent contractor, alleged that he was forced to perform more services than his contract 
called for and that the defendants were using threats of economic interference to put him out of 
business while acquiring his trade secrets. Toms is distinguishable from this case because, 
under the facts alleged in Toms, the court found Toms’s claim essentially concerned the scope 
of his contractual obligations, and not the “volunteer” hours complained of here. 
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against the retailer defendants based on a theory of aiding and abetting violations of RICO or 

allegations that defendants aided and abetted the commission of predicate acts. 

Plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged the retailer defendants’ participation in, 
or conduct of, the affairs of an enterprise. 

In order to state a claim based on violation of RICO 0 1962(c), plaintiffs must allege 

that the defendants “( 1) conduct (2) [the affairs] of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of 

racketeering activity.” Sedima, 473 U.S. at 496, 105 S.Ct. at 3285. “[Tlhe essence of the 

violation is the commission of those [racketeering] acts in connection with the conduct of an 

enterprise.” Id. at 497, 105 S.Ct. at 3285. In Reves v. Ernst h Young, 507 U.S. 170, 184, 113 

S,Ct. 1163, 1170 (1993), the Supreme Court determined that participation in the conduct of 

the affairs of the enterprise requires that the defendant have some part in the direction of the 

enterprise. The Court stated it encompasses both upper level management as well as lower 

rung participants who are under the direction of upper management, and that liability is also 

extended to those “associated with” the enterprise who participate in the operation and 

management of the enterprise’s affairs.” See id. at 185, 113 S.Ct. at 1173. The retailer 

defendants contend plaintiffs have failed to adequately allege their participation in the various 

11 

Plaintiffs aguc thc Rews test is not applicable here because that test only applies when 
the person is outside the enterprise and not when the person is alleged to be part of the 
enterprise. Reves interpreted what it means to conduct or participate in the conduct of the 
affairs of an enterprise. See id. at 177, 113 S.Ct. at 1169. The Court’s ruling was not explicitly 
or implicitly limited to persons outside the enterprise. In fact, the Court noted the test had equal 
applicability to employees (insiders) of the enterprise as it did to those “associated with” 
(outsiders) the enterprise. See id. at 184-85, 113 S.Ct. at 1172-73. Accordingly, the Court finds 
the “operation and management” test in Reves is applicable to determine if plaintiffs have 
sufficiently alleged the retailer defendants’ participation in the enterprise. 

18 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

a 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

A 0  72 
(Rev.8182) 

- _  

enterprises. 

As noted above, the allegations adequately show an opportunity for the retailer 

defendants to participate in the enterprise. However, for the reasons given below, the 

allegations purportedly showing that the retailer defendants actually did participate in the 

enterprise are insufficient to constitute the requisite “participation.” See Cornwest, Inc. v. 

American Operator Services, Inc., 65 F.Supp. 1467, 1475 (C.D. Cal. 1991) (allegations of 

assisting with certain aspects of the enterprise were not sufficient to suggest that the defendant 

had any actual control over the enterprise’s course of action). 

In 7 1 1  of the FAC plaintiffs allege the retailer defendants knowingly or recklessly 

participated in the enterprise and in 7 133 plaintiffs set forth the factual allegations which they 

conlend suppurl [lie relailers’ parhipalion in Ihe euteqxise. PlainliEs allege irr section (a) or 

7 133 that the retailer defendants have control over minimum wage, overtime policies, and 

working conditions through monitoring and oversight of conditions but that they “apparently 

acquiesce to such conditions.” Generally, the cases seem to suggest that mere acquiescence to 

conditions does not constitute “participation” in the conduct of the enterprise. See Cruse v. 

Equitable Securities oflvew York, Inc., 678 F.Supp. 1023, 1034 (S.D.N.Y. 1987) (“non-action 

or nonfeasance [I is not the active participation in racketeering activity required before 

plainlirf may iiivuke tlie RICO statute”). Although Cr-use was a securities case involving the 

duties of a stock broker, it provides guidance here. 

Sections (d), (f) and (g) of 7 133 allege that the retailer defendants impose substantial 

economic pressure on the manufacturer defendants to violate wage and overtime provisions. 
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Alleged economic pressure generated under the terms of the contracts between retailers and 

manufacturers, however, is not equivalent to participation in the enterprise. See, e.g., Morin v. 

Trupin, 832 FSupp. 93 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (substantial persuasive power to induce management 

to take certain actions is not equivalent to having the power to conduct or participate in the 

conduct of the enterprise’s affairs). Morin involved a law firm that advised a corporation; 

again, the court adopts its reasoning in the instant matter. 

Section (e) of 7 133 alleges that the retailer defendants failed to exert their economic 

leverage over the manufacturer defendants to control working conditions. A failure to act is 

not participation in the conduct of an enterprise. See Reves, 507 U.S. at 185,113 S.Ct. at 

1 173 (accounting firm’s failure to act did not constitute participation in the conduct of the 

enterprise); see also Kerr-McGee Corp. v. Ma-Ju Marine Services, Inc., 830 F.2d 1332, 1342 

(5th Cir. 1987) (failure to exert economic pressure did not give rise to liability under section 

5(b) of the Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act). 

Paragraph 133, sections (b) and (c) allege that the retailer defendants have control over 

the operational details and thus effectively supervise the production process through oversight 

and quality control monitoring. This is the only affirmative conduct by the retailers which 

plaintiffs have alleged; however, the allegation of quality control monitoring is insufficient to 

givt: rise to an inference that tlic retailer defendants were dirccting thc cntcrprisc at somc lcvel 

through a pattern of racketeering activities. See Cornwest, 765 FSupp. at 1475 (allegations 

that defendant effectively controlled operations through assisting certain activities were not 

sufficient to suggest defendant had any actual control or decision making authority over the 
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affairs of the enterprise). 

Accordingly, and for the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that plaintiffs have not 

sufficiently alleged the that retailer defendants participated in the conduct of the affairs of the 

enterprises. l2 

Plaintiffs have sufficiently pleaded a conspiracy under 6 1962(d) to violate 5 1962(c) but 
have not sufficiently pleaded a conspiracy under 3 1962(d) to violate 0 1962(a). 

Section 1962(d) provides that “[ilt shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to 

violate any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b) or (c) of this section.” 18 U.S.C. 6 1962(d). 

Defendants contend that because plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged RICO claims based on 

violations of 5 1962(a) (“use or investment”) and (c) (“enterprise”), they cannot allege a 

conspiracy to violate those sections under 5 1962(d). See Simon v. Value Behavioral Health, 

Inc., 208 F.3d 1073, 1084 (9th Cir. 2000) (“[Flailure to plead the requisite elements of either a 

Section 1962(a) or a Section 1962(c) violation implicitly means that he cannot plead a 

conspiracy to violate either section.”). 

12 

Plaintiffs also allege the retailers and the manufacturers are joint venturers and each 
others agents and in this manner are apparently attempting to impose liability vicariously upon 
the retailer defendants. Sep Rmdy v nnivy Frmh PmtJmttt.~ (In ,974 F.2d 1 149, 1 154 (9* Cir. 
1992) (holding that “an employer that is benefitted by its employee or agent’s violations of 
section 1962(c) may be held liable under the doctrines of respondeat superior and agency when 
thc cmploycr is distinct fi-om the enterprise.”). As discussed infk in the vicarious liability 
analysis, plaintiffs have failed to adequately plead these relationships. Further, it appears that 
the retailer defendants may not be held vicariously liable under 6 1962(c) for the manufacturer 
defendants’ conduct on an agency theory because, as the purported “employer” of the 
manufacturer defendants, they not sufficiently distinct from the association-in-fact enterprise. 
See Brady, 974 F.2d at 1154-55. 
fact enterprise to be held liable on an agency basis instead of finding liability based on the 
person’s participation would seem to be inconsistent with 9 1962(c) requirement that the 
“person” must participate in the enterprise in order to be held liable. 

To permit a “person” that is associated with an associate-in- 
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To state a claim for conspiracy under RICO, it must be alleged that the defendants 

knew about and agreed to facilitate some criminal scheme, and the scheme, if completed, must 

constitute a criminal offense under RICO. See Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52,63-64, 

118 S.Ct. 469,477-78 (1997); see also Howard v. America Online, 208 F.3d 741, 751 (gth Cir. 

2000) (a defendant must be aware of the essential nature and scope of the enterprise and agree 

to participate in it). This requirement is satisfied where an agreement which is a substantive 

violation of RICO is alleged or it is alleged that the defendants agreed to commit or participate 

in two predicate offenses. See Howard, 208 F.3d at 751. A defendant need not agree to 

commit or facilitate every part of the substantive offense under RICO. See Salinas, 522 U.S. 

at 65, 118 S.Ct. 478. Further, a defendant need not have violated the substantive RICO 

provision in order to be liable as a conspirator. See Beck., 120 S.Ct. at 1614-17. 

In count one of the FAC plaintiffs allege that defendants agreed and conspired among 

themselves to conduct or participate in the conduct of the affairs of various enterprises 

through a pattern of racketeering activity. (FAC 7 174). In 7 101 of the factual allegations, 

plaintiffs allege that the defendants entered into an agreement to either commit or keep secret 

the wrongful and tortious acts described in the complaint. Further, it can be inferred fkom the 

allegations in 7711 and 133-139 that the retailer defendants knew or were aware of the 

conditions at the factories and, arguendo, knew of the essential nature and scope of the 

criminal scheme. Thus, plaintiffs have sufficiently pleaded the retailer defendants’ knowledge 

or awareness of the scheme and an agreement to facilitate it. 

Plaintiffs must also allege the requisite injury to property under 8 1962(a) and (c) in 
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order to state a conspiracy claim under § 1962(d). See Beck, 120 S.Ct. at 1616 and n.9. As 

noted supra, plaintiffs have not alleged the requisite injury under 5 1962(a) and thus the 

conspiracy claim based thereon fails; plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged a violation of 5 

1962(c) and their conspiracy claim based thereon survives this motion to dismiss. 

VICARIOUS / JOINT LIABILITY FOR COUNT 3 (ANTI-PEONAGE ACT), 
COUNT 4 (PEONAGE AND INVOLUNTARY SERVITUDE IN VIOLATION OF 

THE 13TH AMENDMENT), AND COUNT 5 (INTERNATIONAL LAW VIOLATIONS) 

Plaintiffs allege that the retailer defendants and manufacturer defendants are joint 

venturers, joint conspirators, agents, andor aiders and abettors of one another. Plaintiffs 

contend that because of these relationshps the retailer defendants are vicariously or jointly 

liable for the alleged labor violations of the manufacturer defendants. Defendants contend 

such 1-elationships arc not adequately alleged. 

Joint venture is not sufficiently pleaded. 

To allege the existence of a joint venture plaintiffs must allege an undertaking by two 

or more persons jointly to carry out a single enterprise for profit. See Shell Oil Co., v. 

Prestidge, 249 F.2d 413.415 (9* Cir. 1957). The elements of ajoint venture are (1)joint 

interest in a common business; (2) an understanding to share profits and losses; and (3) a right 

to joint control, Jackson v. East Buy Hospital, 246 F.3d 1248, 1261 (9* Cir. 2001). See also 

580 F'olsom Associates v. Prometlieus Developnzent Company, 223 Cal. App.3d 1, 15-16,272 

Cal.Rptr. 227,234 (1990). The existence of a joint venture may be implied fiom the acts and 

declarations of the parties, 580 Folsom Associates, 223 Cal. App. at 15-16,272 Cal.Rptr. at 

234. 
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